IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

NO. 18-0129

METROPOLITAN PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE
COMPANY d/b/a METLIFE AUTO & HOME and ECONOMY PREMIER
ASSURANCE COMPANY

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

vs.

AUTO-OWNERS MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE
IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE JEANIE K. VAUDT, JUDGE
HONORABLE JEFFREY D. FARRELL, JUDGE

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

TIMOTHY W. HAMANN, AT00031346
JOSHUA L. CHRISTENSEN, AT0011204
Clark, Butler, Walsh & Hamann
315 E. 5th Street
PO Box 596
Waterloo, Iowa 50704
Phone: (319) 234-5701
Fax: (319) 232-9579
E-mail: tim.hamann@cbwhlaw.com
josh.christensen@cbwhlaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED AUTO-OWNERS' MAY 20, 2015 SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION BECAUSE THE INCIDENT DID NOT ARISE OUT OF PARKER HOUSE'S BUSINESS CONDUCT.

Authorities

Grams v. IMT Ins. Co., No. 13-0434, 2014 WL 467895 (Iowa Ct.App. February 5, 2014)

Liverpool & London & Globe Ins. Co. v. Georgia Auto & Supply Co., 115 S.E. 138 (Ga.App. 1922)

Miller v. Speirs, 810 N.W.2d 870 (Iowa 2011)

My Phoung Tran v. Huy The Dao, No. 2015 CA 1941, 2016 WL 4245376 (La.App. 1 Cir. Aug. 10, 2016)

National Surety Corporation v. Westlake Investments, LLC, 880 N.W.2d 724 (Iowa 2016)

Nationwide Agri-Business Ins. Co. v. Goodwin, 782 N.W.2d 465 (Iowa 2010)

Nationwide Insurance Company v. Calabrese, No. 13-CIV-81145, 2015 WL 1293064 (S.D. Florida March 23, 2015)

Nova Casualty Co. v. Anderson, No. 804CV2085T27TGW, 2005 WL 3336496 (M.D. Fla. Dec. 5, 2005)

Sebastiano v. Bishop, No. OT-97-003, 1997 WL 587138 (Ohio Ottawa App. Sept. 19, 1997)

Simonsen v. Lumber Company Brew Pub & Eatery, LLC., No. 2012AP594, 2013 WL 500395 (Wis Ct.App. Feb. 12, 2013)

State Auto Property & Casualty v. Furniture Deals, LLC, No. 11-1206-CV-W-SOW, 2013 WL 12143975 (W.D.Mo. July 23, 2013)

Talen v. Employers Mut. Cas.Co., 703 N.W.2d 395 (Iowa 2005)

Transcontinental Insurance Co. v. Edwards, No. 96-5099, 1996 WL 814532
(W.D.Ark. Dec. 23, 1996)

Travelers Indemnity Co. v. Nix, 644 F.2d 1130 (5th Cir. 1981)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT AUTO-OWNERS' COMMERCIAL POLICY COVERED THIS PERSONAL INCIDENT.

Authorities

Bus. Consulting Servs., Inc. v. Wicks, 703 N.W.2d 427 (Iowa 2005)

Farm Bureau General Insurance v. Estate of Stormzand, No. 325326, 2016
WL 1688883 (Ct.App.Mich. April 26, 2016)

Sebastiano v. Bishop, No. OT-97-003, 1997 WL 587138 (Ohio Ottawa App.
Sept. 19, 1997)

Talen v. Employers Mut. Cas.Co., 703 N.W.2d 395 (Iowa 2005)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED AGAIN IN FINDING THAT METROPOLITAN WAS ENTITLED TO CONTRIBUTION OR INDEMNITY FROM AUTO-OWNERS WHERE THE TWO COMPANIES INSURED DIFFERENT PARTIES AND DIFFERENT RISKS

Authorities

American Trust & Savings Bank v. United States Fidelity, 439 N.W.2d 188
(Iowa 1989)

Bus. Consulting Servs., Inc. v. Wicks, 703 N.W.2d 427 (Iowa 2005)

Continental Casualty Company v. Signal Insurance Company, 580 P.2d 372
(Ariz. Ct.App. 1978)

Hills Bank & Trust Company v. Converse, 772 N.W.2d 764 (Iowa 2009)

Reliance Insurance Co. v. Liberty Mutual Fire Ins. Co., 13 F.3d 982 (6th Cir.
1994)

Republic Ins. Co. v. United States Fire Ins., Co., 444 P.2d 868 (Colo. 1968)

St. Paul Insurance Companies v. Horace Mann, 231 N.W.2d 619
(Iowa 1975)

State ex. rel. Palmer v. Unisys Corporation, 637 N.W.2d 142 (Iowa 2001)

State Farm v. Zurich Insurance Co., 111 F.3d 42 (6th Cir. 1997)

Wilson v. Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company, 770 N.W.2d 324
(Iowa 2009)

Iowa Code, section 668.5(1) (2017)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN BINDING AUTO-OWNERS TO THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT, WHICH WAS ENTERED INTO IN VIOLATION OF AUTO-OWNERS' COOPERATION CLAUSE.

Authorities

Bus. Consulting Servs., Inc. v. Wicks, 703 N.W.2d 427 (Iowa 2005)

Hopkins v. Dickey, No. 16-1109, 2017 WL 4842620, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App.
Oct. 25, 2017)

Kelly v. Iowa Mutual Insurance Company, 620 N.W.2d 637, (Iowa 2000)

Quad City Bank & Trust v. Jim Kircher & Assoc., P.C., 804 N.W.2d 83

(Iowa 2011)

Ranes v. Adams Laboratories, Inc., 778 N.W.2d 677 (Iowa 2010)

Red Giant Oil Co., v. Lawlor, 528 N.W.2d 524 (Iowa 1995)

Taft v. Iowa Dist. Court ex rel. Linn County, 828 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa 2013)

Westview v. Iowa Mut. Ins., No. 05-1594, 2006 WL 3802154 (Iowa Ct.App. Dec. 28, 2006)

7 Wigmore §1918

Federal Advisory Committee's Note 2017 Iowa Rules of Court, at 396-97
(Thomson Reuters)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Iowa Supreme Court should retain this case because the issues raised involve substantial issues of first impression in Iowa and substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d), 6.1101(2)(d), and 6.1101(2)(f).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Defendant-Appellants Auto-Owners Mutual Insurance Company (Auto-Owners) appeals the trial judge's entry of a \$450,000 Judgment in favor of Plaintiff-Appellee Metropolitan Property and Casualty Insurance Company d/b/a Metlife Auto & Home and Economy Premier Assurance Company (Metropolitan). (App. pp.282-308). The dispute arises out of the applicability of Metropolitan and Auto-Owners' insurance policies to the injuries suffered by the injured party. (App. pp.10-14).

Course of Proceeding and Disposition Below: On June 13, 2014, Metropolitan filed an Original Notice and Petition against Auto-Owners seeking subrogation for payments Metropolitan paid in a settlement to an injured party. (App. pp.10-14). On June 23, 2014, Auto-Owners filed its Answer denying Metropolitan's Petition and asserting its First Affirmative Defense stating that there was no coverage for the incident in question

because the Auto-Owners' policy only provided coverage "with respect to the conduct of a business." (App. pp.15-18).

On April 2, 2015, Auto-Owners filed an Application for Leave to Amend Answer and its First Amendment to Answer. (App. pp.19-22). The Application was granted on July 2, 2015. (App. pp.137-140). Auto-Owners First Amendment to Answer was docketed on July 6, 2015. (App. pp.141-142).

Auto-Owners First Amendment to Answer asserted its Second, Third, Fourth, and Fifth Affirmative Defenses. (App. pp.141-142). The Second Affirmative Defense provided that Metropolitan's claims for contribution, subrogation, or indemnity was barred because such claims are only available when the insurance policies in question insure the same entities, the same risks, the same interests, and the identical properties. (App. p.141). The Third Affirmative Defense alleged that Metropolitan's claims for contribution, subrogation, or indemnity was barred due to lack of privity between the parties. (App. p.141). The Fourth Affirmative Defense alleged that Metropolitan's claims for contribution or subrogation must be apportioned and reduced by the fault of Metropolitan's insureds, that Nicklaus Lala's fault and resultant liability was entirely and exclusively covered by the policies issued by the Metropolitan, that Metropolitan had no

right to contribution, subrogation, or indemnity related to the fault and resultant damages which are assessed to Nicklaus Lala, and that Nicklaus Lala's fault was the proximate sole cause of the incident in question and Metropolitan was not entitled to contribution or subrogation. (App. p.141). The Fifth Affirmative Defense alleged that Metropolitan's policies were primarily, if not entirely, the primary policies covering the incident in question because the incident in question was primarily, if not entirely, related to personal activities as opposed to business activities and Metropolitan was not entitled to contribution, subrogation or indemnity against Auto-Owners. (App. p.141).

On May 20, 2015, Auto-Owners filed a Motion for Summary Judgment arguing that because the incident in question did not relate to the business conduct of Auto-Owners' insured there was no coverage under Auto-Owners' policy. (App. pp.23-25). On June 10, 2015, Auto-Owners filed two Motions for Partial Summary Judgment. (App. pp.26-27; App. pp.28-29). Auto-Owners' First Motion for Partial Summary Judgment sought a ruling that Metropolitan not be entitled to make a contribution claim against Auto-Owners. (App. pp.26-27). Auto-Owners' Second Motion for Partial Summary Judgment sought a ruling that comparative fault applied to Metropolitan's subrogation claim. (App. pp.28-29).

On June 15, 2015, Auto-Owners filed its second Application for Leave to Amend Answer and its Second Amendment to Answer which asserted its Sixth and Seventh Affirmative Defenses (App. pp.30-35). The Application was granted on August 4, 2015. (App. pp.143-146). The Sixth Affirmative Defense stated that Metropolitan had failed to assert its subrogation claim against the real parties in interest. (App. p.32). The Seventh Affirmative Defense alleged that Metropolitan could not assert any rights and duties of Auto-Owners insureds because the insureds did not obtain Auto-Owners' written consent. (App. p.32).

On June 22, 2015, Metropolitan filed a Motion for Leave to File Amended and Substituted Petition seeking to add a new Defendant, Parker House Properties, L.L.C. (hereinafter referred to as "Parker House"). (App. pp.36-37). On June 22, 2015, Metropolitan also filed a Motion for Summary Judgment alleging there was coverage under the Auto-Owners policy for the incident in question. (App. pp.38-39).

On July 17, 2015, the Honorable Jeanie Vaudt held a hearing on the pending Motions. (App. p.143). On August 4, 2015, the Honorable Judge Vaudt entered an Order denying Auto-Owners' and Metropolitan's Motions for Summary Judgment and Partial Summary Judgment. (App. pp.143-146).

In the same Order, the Court granted Metropolitan's Motion for Leave to File Amended and Substituted Petition. (App. p.144).

On August 6, 2015, Metropolitan filed its Amended and Substituted Petition at Law realleging its original claims against Auto-Owners and alleging claims of indemnity and contribution against Parker House. (App. pp.147-154). On September 1, 2015, Auto-Owners filed its Answer to Metropolitan's Amended and Substituted Petition at Law, including and Eighth Affirmative Defense alleging that Metropolitan's claims were barred pursuant to Chapter 516 because there was no pending judgment against Auto-Owners' insureds. (App. pp.155-160). On September 15, 2015, Parker House filed its Answer to Metropolitan's Amended and Substituted Petition. (App. pp.177-179).

On September 3, 2015, Auto-Owners filed its Application for Interlocutory Appeal, which sought an appeal of the August 4, 2015 Order. (App. pp.161-176). On September 30, 2015, the Honorable Justice Daryl L. Hecht entered an Order denying Auto-Owners' Application for Interlocutory Appeal. (App. pp.180-182).

On December 11, 2015, Parker House filed a Motion to Amend Answer and asserted affirmative defenses, including that Metropolitan was not the proper party to pursue contribution and indemnity under the

circumstances of the case, that Metropolitan's claim for contribution was barred because of the absence of common liability to the claimants, that Metropolitan's claim for indemnity was barred because of the fault of Metropolitan's insureds, and that Metropolitan's claims were barred because Metropolitan's insureds were the alter egos of Parker House and could not recover contribution or indemnity against themselves (App. pp.183-186). The Court granted Parker House's Motion to Amend Answer on December 23, 2015. (App. pp.187-188).

On November 23, 2016, Parker House filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on Metropolitan's claims for indemnity and contribution. (App. pp.189-190). On November 30, 2016, Auto-Owners filed renewals of its prior Motion for Summary Judgment and Motions for Partial Summary Judgment. (App. pp.191-208; App. pp.209-222; App. pp.223-234). On January 11, 2017, the Honorable Jeffrey D. Farrell held a hearing on the pending Motions for Summary Judgment and Partial Summary Judgment. (App. pp.252).

On January 16, 2017, Auto-Owners filed an Application for Leave to Amend Answer to Metropolitan's Amended and Substituted Petition at Law and its Amendment to Answer and asserted a Ninth Affirmative Defense. (App. pp.235-239). The Ninth Affirmative Defense asserted that the anti-

subrogation doctrine applied and Metropolitan cannot subrogate against its insureds by pursuing subrogation or contribution against Auto-Owners.

(App. p.237). The Application was granted on March 7, 2017. (App. p.265).

On February 17, 2017, Auto-Owners filed an Application for Leave to Amend Answer to Assert Tenth Affirmative Defense to Metropolitan's Amended and Substituted Petition at Law and asserted a Tenth Affirmative Defense. (App. pp.239-242). The Tenth Affirmative Defense asserted that the settlement entered into between Metropolitan and Parker House was contrary to the insurance policies issued to Parker House by Auto-Owners. (App. p.241). The Application was granted on March 7, 2017. (App. p.265).

The Tenth Affirmative Defense was prompted when Parker House agreed to file a \$450,000 offer to confess judgment in favor of Metropolitan, assign its rights against Auto-Owners to Metropolitan, and pay \$1,000 of the judgment in exchange for Metropolitan agreeing to not execute on the offer to confess judgment. (App. p.239; App. pp.246-249).

On February 21, 2017, Parker House filed its Offer to Confess Judgment in favor of Metropolitan in the amount of \$450,000. (App. p.243). On February 24, 2017, Metropolitan filed its Acceptance of Parker House's

Offer to Confess Judgment. (App. pp.244-245). On February 27, 2017, Metropolitan filed a Partial Satisfaction of Judgment acknowledging payment of \$1,000. (App. pp.250-251).

On March 7, 2017, the Honorable Jeffrey D. Farrell entered an Order granting Auto-Owners' Second Motion for Partial Summary Judgment finding that comparative fault was to be considered at trial. (App. pp.250-265). The Court denied Auto-Owners' Motion for Summary Judgment and First Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (App. p.265). The Court also granted a pending Motion to Continue to allow the parties to certify new expert witnesses "only as to the question whether the settlement between [Metropolitan] and Parker House [was] reasonable and prudent." (App. pp.265).

A Non-Jury Trial was scheduled for September 25-27, 2017. (App. pp.267-271). On September 18, 2017, Auto-Owners filed Motions in Limine to exclude the testimony of Craig F. Stanovich and Marsha Ternus. (App. pp.274-277; App. pp.278-281). Auto-Owners alleged Mr. Stanovich's testimony should have been excluded because interpretation of insurance policies is an issue for the Court. (App. pp.274-276). Auto-Owners alleged Ms. Ternus' testimony should have been excluded because she failed to

offer a factual opinion as to the reasonableness or prudence of the settlement between Metropolitan and Parker House. (App. pp.278-280).

A Non-Jury Trial was held on September 25-26, 2017. (App. p.282). On November 20, 2017, the Honorable Judge Jeffrey D. Farrell entered judgment against Auto-Owners and in favor of Metropolitan in the amount of \$450,000. (App. pp.282-308).

The Court found that Parker House was an insured under the Auto-Owners' policies because of its ownership of the farm for investment purposes was a business purpose. (App. pp.291-295). The Court also found that Nicklaus Lala and Samuel Lala were covered under the Auto-Owners' policies as either employees or volunteer workers when they were putting guns away at and locking the house in question. (App. pp.292-293). The Court further found that Nicklaus Lala was an agent of Parker House when he was securing the property and locking it. (App. pp.292-293). Additionally, the Court found that Parker House was liable under a premises liability theory. (App. pp.295-297).

The Court then found that the settlement between Metropolitan and Parker House was reasonable and prudent and that Metropolitan was entitled to contribution from Auto-Owners. (App. pp.297-302). Lastly, the Court denied Auto-Owners' ten Affirmative Defenses. (App. pp.305-306).

On December 14, 2017, Auto-Owners filed a Motion to Amend or Enlarge the November 20, 2017 Ruling requesting the Court grant Auto-Owners credit for the \$1,000 Metropolitan had already received through its settlement with Parker House and enter specific written rulings on Auto-Owners' Motions in Limine regarding the testimony of Mr. Stanovich and Ms. Ternus. (App. pp.309-312). On December 30, 2017, the Court entered an Order denying Auto-Owners Motion to Amend or Enlarge. (App. pp.313-314).

On January 19, 2018, Auto-Owners timely filed its Notice of Appeal. (App. pp.315-317).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Parker House, its commercial property, and its commercial policy

Jay and Lorrie Lala, (hereinafter "Mr. Lala" and "Mrs. Lala") organized Parker House as a for-profit business in 1997 with the purpose to engage in any lawful business or businesses and to engage in all other activities necessary, customary, convenient or incident thereto. (App. pp.840, 843-844, 861). Parker House purchased from Auto-Owners a business policy known as a Tailored Protection policy, which included a Commercial General Liability Coverage form. (App. pp.523-524). Effective September 30, 2006, the Tailored Protection Policy was endorsed

to add a location which was classified as vacant land comprised of 116.78 acres of vacant farmland near Nora Springs, Iowa. (App. p.878). Consistent with Auto-Owners' underwriting procedures, the total acreage was rounded up to 117 acres and the endorsement was effective as of May 1, 2006. (App. p.878).

Parker House, its personal property, and its personal policy

Parker House later purchased property located at 1545 Foothill Ave., Nora Springs, Iowa (hereinafter referred to as the "1545 Foothill Property") in November 2008, which included 2.82 acres of land and a house. (App. p.337; *Transcript v. I p.20, Lines 1-24*). Parker House never notified Auto-Owners of the purchase of the additional land, which was not vacant, but included a house/dwelling. (App. p.825-833).

After acquiring the 1545 Foothill Property, the Lalas obtained *personal* liability insurance coverage for the property through Metropolitan. (App. pp.891,894). The Metropolitan policy was a personal homeowner's insurance policy, which included, among other things, coverage for legal liability protection, motor vehicle liability protection, and other personal protections. (App. pp.885-954). The policy applied to the Lalas' primary home, the Lalas' personal vehicles, and the 1545 Foothill Property. (App. pp.887-902). The Lalas' used the house at the 1545 Foothill Property as a

place for personal guests to stay, for use by hunting parties, and for other personal uses. (App. pp.340-342; *Transcript v. I p.25, Line 2-p.27, Line 25* and App. pp.368-369; *Transcript v. I p.68, Line 4-p.69, Line 7*). The house was fully furnished with residential furnishing as opposed to business furnishings. (App. p.340; *Transcript v. I p.25, Lines 2-17*). It is undisputed that the house was not used for Parker House's business purposes. (App. pp.340-342; *Transcript v. I p.25, Line 2-p.27, Line 25* and App. pp.368-369; *Transcript v. I p.68, Line 4-p.69, Line 7*).

The accident on the personal property involving personal activity

On April 22, 2012, the Lalas' son Nicklaus, his friend Hunter True, and another friend went to the 1545 Foothill Property to ride dirt bikes and all-terrain and utility-terrain vehicles. (App. p.725, Lines 7-19). As they were getting ready to leave the property, Nicklaus Lala and Mr. True entered the house at the 1545 Foothill Property to lock up. (App. p.725, Lines 7-19).

A rifle was resting on Nicklaus Lala's bed, where it had been left by Nicklaus, or his younger brother Sam, during an earlier visit. (App. p.721, Lines 16-21). The rifle was located at the 1545 Foothill Property for the personal pursuits of hunting and target shooting and was not used for the protection of any property owned by Parker House or for any other business use. (App. p.721, Lines 12-15). Nicklaus Lala picked up the rifle to look at

it when a round discharged, killing Mr. True. (App. p.726, Lines 1-7). Mr. Lala was at the 1545 Foothill Property mowing the grass and doing some yard work and left approximately 15 minutes before the incident. (App. p.355; *Transcript v. I p.40, Lines 1-12*).

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