IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 18-0129

**METROPOLITAN PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE
COMPANY d/b/a METLIFE AUTO & HOME and ECONOMY PREMIER
ASSURANCE COMPANY,**

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

v.

AUTO-OWNERS MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant-Appellant.

**APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT
OF POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE JEANIE K. VAUDT
HONORABLE JEFFREY D. FARRELL**

**APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Michael S. Jones
PATTERSON LAW FIRM, L.L.P.
505 5th Avenue, Suite 729
Des Moines, IA 50309
Phone: 515-283-2147
FAX: 515-283-1002
E-mail: mjones@pattersonfirm.com

**ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS/
APPELLEES.**

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED AUTO-OWNERS' MAY 20, 2015 SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION AS GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTED AS TO WHETHER AUTO-OWNERS PROVIDED COVERAGE FOR THE POTENTIAL LIABILITY OF PARKER HOUSE PROPERTIES.

A. Preservation of Issues. The issue has not been preserved for appeal. The denial of a motion for summary judgment is no longer appealable once the matter proceeds to a trial on the merits. *Lindsay v. Cottingham & Butler Ins. Servs., Inc.*, 763 N.W.2d 568, 572 (Iowa 2009), citing, *Kiesau v. Bantz*, 686 N.W.2d 164, 174 (Iowa 2004). After a trial on the merits, the denial of the motion for summary judgment merges with the trial on the merits. *Id.* Accordingly, the Iowa Supreme Court cannot consider the assignments of error relating to the denial of the motion for summary judgment. *Id.*

B. Standard of Review. Metropolitan agrees that the standard of review of a ruling on a motion for summary judgment is for errors at law.

C. Discussion. Parker House Properties, L.L.C. (hereinafter “Parker House”) owned the location where the fatal accident occurred. Parker House is the named insured on the Auto-Owners policy. The rifle which accidentally discharged and killed Hunter True was kept at the location, an acreage outside of Mason City known by the address of 1545 Foothill

Avenue. The loaded rifle had been left on the bed in the house for at least two months before the April 22, 2012 fatal accident.

On the day he was shot and killed, Hunter True was an invitee. Jay Lala, who along with his wife, Lorrie, owned Parker House was at the property that day and left within 15 minutes of the shooting. Hunter True was the friend of Jay's son, Nicklaus Lala. Jay knew that Nicklaus and Hunter were at the property that day. Hunter True was not a trespasser.

As the owner of the property, Parker House owed a duty of care to Hunter True. Genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether Parker House breached its duty by not discovering the loaded rifle in the house.

Parker House is the named insured on the Auto-Owners policy. Parker House has broad coverage under the Auto-Owners policy. Parker House was formed as a limited liability company. The Auto-Owners policy provides that, "If you are designated in the Declarations as a limited liability company, 'you are an insured.'" Based on the unqualified coverage provided to Parker House, it is covered by Auto-Owners for liability arising from the fatal shooting. In order to avoid coverage, Auto-Owners would have to prove that coverage was excluded. Not only does Auto-Owners not prove an exclusion, it doesn't even assert an exclusion. Instead, Auto-Owners ignores the coverage provided to Parker House, and focuses instead

on whether the limited liability company's members or managers are insureds. The location of the accident was not owned by Jay Lala, Lorrie Lala, or Nicklaus Lala. The property was owned by Parker House. Auto-Owners provided the only coverage available to Parker House for its liability arising from the fatal shooting. As the district court ultimately concluded in its ruling of November 20, 2017, the Auto-Owners policy provides coverage to Parker House for the dangerous condition which caused the death of Hunter True.

Summary judgment is proper only when the entire record demonstrates the absence of a genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Linn v. Montgomery*, 903 N.W.2d 337, 342 (Iowa 2017). The record is reviewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Id.* Here, Auto-Owners issued a liability policy to Parker House. The shooting of April 22, 2012 occurred on property owned by Parker House. Genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether Parker House was negligent in failing to discover the loaded rifle.

II. THE AUTO-OWNERS POLICY PROVIDES COVERAGE TO PARKER HOUSE FOR ITS LIABILITY ARISING FROM THE LOADED RIFLE WHICH DISCHARGED AND KILLED HUNTER TRUE WHILE HUNTER WAS ON PROPERTY OWNED BY PARKER HOUSE.

A. Preservation of Issues. Metropolitan agrees that this issue has been preserved for appeal.

B. Standard of Review. Metropolitan agrees that the standard of review for the judgment of a district court following a bench trial in a law action is for correction of errors at law. *Chrysler Fin. Co. v. Bergstrom*, 703 N.W.2d 415, 418 (Iowa 2005). The district court’s findings of fact have the force of a special verdict and are binding on the appellate court if supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* Evidence is substantial if a reasonable person would accept it as adequate to reach a conclusion. *Id.* Evidence is not insubstantial merely because we may draw different conclusions from it; the ultimate question is whether it supports the finding actually made, not whether the evidence would support a different finding. *Id.* In determining whether substantial evidence exists, the appellate court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the district court’s judgment. *Id.*

C. Discussion. The Auto-Owners policy provides that Parker House Properties, LLC (“Parker House”) is an insured. Specifically, the policy reads:

SECTION II – WHO IS AN INSURED . . .

1. If you are designated in the Declarations as:

.....

- c. *A limited liability company, you are an insured. Your members are also insureds, but only with respect to the conduct of your business. Your managers are insureds, but only with respect to their duties as your managers.*

(App. 803) Exhibit A at p. 11 (italics added). Thus, the policy makes clear that, as respect to a limited liability company, it covers the named insured, its managers (with respect to their management duties) and members (with respect to the conduct of the named insured's business). *Brown v. MR Group, LLC*, 693 N.W.2d 138, 142 (Wis. App. 2005). Applying Iowa rules of policy interpretation, the commercial general liability policy covers the named insured, and in addition to the named insured, also covers members with respect to the business, managers with respect to their managerial duties, and employees for acts within the scope of their employment. *Michigan Millers Mut. Ins. Co. v. Asoyia, Inc.*, 793 F.3d 872, 880 (8th Cir. 2015). Auto-Owners argument ignores the fact that Parker House, as the named insured, is an insured, without qualification. Auto-Owners is attempting to apply the course of business language that qualifies coverage

for managers of the limited liability company and apply it to the limited liability company. The district court correctly concluded that the language of the policy does not support Auto-Owners interpretation. (*App.* 291) *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment Entry of 11/20/17 at p. 10.* “The policy stated that a LLC is an insured – period.” *Id.* The district court’s analysis is correct.

In its brief, Auto-Owners concedes that, “It would be impossible for a business (in this case Parker House), as a legally created, yet nonphysically existing entity, to engage in conduct that is not business related.” *Auto-Owners’ Proof Brief at p. 39.* In other words, everything Parker House does, including owning real estate, is business related. Parker House’s ownership of the Floyd County property is business related. That’s why coverage for Parker House is written on a commercial policy. Auto-Owners provides coverage for the negligence of Parker House.

As owner of the property, Parker House owed a duty to Hunter True. The straightforward application of the policy language proves that Parker House has coverage for its liability arising from the dangerous condition (loaded rifle) on its property at 1545 Foothill Avenue.

The Metropolitan and Auto-Owners policies were issued through First Insurance in Mason City. John Moran is a licensed insurance agent in Iowa

and works at First Insurance. Although Auto-Owners argues it was unaware of a dwelling on the Floyd County land, its agent knew.

Auto-Owners is bound by the knowledge of its insurance agent:

Any officer, insurance producer, or representative of an insurance company doing business in this state who may solicit insurance, procure applications, issue policies, adjust losses, or transact the business generally of such companies, shall be held to be the agent of such insurance company with authority to transact all business within the scope of the agency relationship, anything in the application, policy, contract, bylaws, or articles of incorporation of such company to the contrary notwithstanding.

Iowa Code § 515.105. The knowledge of a soliciting agent is imputed to the insurance company. *Schmidt v. Fortis Ins. Co.*, 349 F.Supp.2d 1171, 1196 (N.D. Iowa 2005). Even negligence by a soliciting agent in procuring information is a risk borne by the insurer, not the insured. *Id.* The knowledge and representations of the soliciting agent are imputed and binding on the insurer. *Grinnell Mut. Reinsurance Co. v. Voeltz*, 431 N.W.2d 783, 788 (Iowa 1988). Auto-Owners' argument that it lacked knowledge of the dwelling is especially insignificant because the policy premium would have been less if rated for a dwelling.

Auto-Owners admits the shooting occurred on property owned by Parker House Properties, L.L.C. and known as 1545 Foothill Avenue in

Nora Springs, Floyd County, Iowa, also described as Sec. 14, Twp 96N and Rge 18. *See, Plaintiffs' Ex. 12 (Petition at Law filed on or about June 13, 2014 at para. 4 and Auto-Owners' Answer filed on or about July 23, 2014 admitting the allegations in para. 4 of the Petition).* The Auto-Owners' policy lists Sec. 14, Twp 96N and Rge 18 as a location. Auto-Owners' argument that it did not provide coverage for the location is contradicted by Auto-Owners' policy, agent, adjuster, and pleadings.

Parker House sold some of the land and purchased the dwelling. At the time of the accident in 2012, Parker House owned 81 acres. *(App. 679-680) See, Plaintiffs' Ex. 13 (Auto-Owners' Response to Plaintiffs' Third Request for Admissions).* Although rated by Auto-Owners as vacant land, the Floyd County location premium was actually higher than if rated as a dwelling.

The vacant land classification code does not restrict, exclude, or limit the coverage. Immediately after the accident, Auto-Owners obtained information from the Floyd County Assessor's office which included a photograph of the dwelling where the accident occurred. In its denial letters of August 13, 2012 *(App. 464-65) (Plaintiffs' Ex. 8)* and November 4, 2013 *(App. 466-67) (Plaintiffs' Ex. 9)* Auto-Owners did not argue that coverage was excluded for the location. The only provision identified by Auto-

Owners was the definition of “who is an insured”. Auto-Owners was aware that no retail business was operated from the Floyd County location.

A “dangerous weapon” is any instrument or device designed primarily for use in inflicting death or injury upon a human being or animal, and which is capable of inflicting death upon a human being when used in a manner for which it was designed, *Iowa Code § 702.7*. Dangerous weapons include but are not limited to any offensive weapon, pistol, revolver, or other firearm, dagger, razor, stiletto, switchblade knife, knife having a blade exceeding five inches in length, or any portable device or weapon directing an electric current, impulse, wave, or beam that produces a high-voltage pulse designed to immobilize a person. *Id.* The loaded rifle was a dangerous condition.

Deaths and injuries resulting from use of improperly stored and safeguarded guns are a mounting societal problem. *Irons v. Coal*, 734 A.2d 1052, 1055 (Conn. 1998). There is a significant societal benefit to be realized by recognizing a duty of the person in control of the premises to exercise due care with regard to the storage of guns on the premises. *Jupin v. Kask*, 849 N.E.2d 829, 840 (Mass. 2006). The costs of imposing the duty are modest. *Id.* at 838-39. The landowner must take reasonable care to ensure that guns stored on its property were either secured or

removed. *Id.* at 839. Where a property owner has agreed to permit firearms to be stored on its property it creates a duty to secure the firearms. *Id.* at 839. The duty arises from a property owner's voluntary and substantial (long-term) connection to a dangerous instrumentality. *Id.* at 840. Parker House, as owner of the property, had potential liability arising from the loaded rifle on the bed which had been there for at least two months. Auto-Owners provides coverage for the liability of Parker House.

The cardinal principal is that the intent of the parties at the time that the policy was sold must control. *Amish Connection, Inc. v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 861 N.W.2d 231, 236 (Iowa 2015). Parker House is a limited liability company. As to Parker House, the who is an insured language is unqualified.

Auto-Owners cites the case of *Sebastiano v. Bishop*, 1997 WL 587138 (Ohio Ct. App. 1997). There, a shooting took place at the residence of a partner in E&K Construction. There is no indication that the location of the shooting at issue in *Sebastiano* occurred at a location titled to the business. While *Sebastiano* would be authority for Auto-Owners if Hunter True had been shot at the Lala home in Mason City, it is not on point where, as here, the shooting took place at a location owned by Parker House Properties, LLC.

Simonsen v. Lumber Co. Brew Pub & Eatery, LLC, 2013 WL 500395 (Wis. App. 2013) is also distinguishable. There, the policy's employer liability exclusion applied to bar coverage for claims against the Lumber Company Brew Pub & Eatery, LLC. Therefore, the question was not the potential liability of the limited liability company. The plaintiff in that case was an employee who was attacked by a co-employee. Hunter True was not an employee of Parker House.

Auto-Owners reliance on *Talen v. Employers Mut. Cas. Co.*, 703 N.W.2d 395 (Iowa 2005) is also misplaced. The issue there was a policy's employment related practices exclusion. The case did not involve the "who is an insured" issue. Auto-Owners cites *State Auto Property & Casualty Ins. Co. v. Furniture Deals, LLC*, 2013 WL 12143975 (W.D. Mo. 2013). That lawsuit involved an assault at Raoul's Velvet Room, not on property owned by the limited liability company. Likewise, the case of *My Phuong Tran v. Huy The Dao*, 2016 WL 4245376 (La. Ct. App. 2006) involved a sexual assault in which an employee was sexually molested at home by the partial owner and manager of Five Star Nail Spa, LLC, where the plaintiff was employed. The provisions of the policy at issue in that case included an intentional acts exclusion, employer's liability exclusion and the "who is an insured" definition. In its analysis, the court noted that "the incident

occurred after work hours and *not on Five Star's premises.*" *Id.* at *4 (emphasis added).

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